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July 29, 2025 

Angel Orozco 
Verdant Culver City LLC 
16530 Bake Parkway Suite 200 
Irvine, California 92618 

RE:  NOTICE OF DECISION – 4th EXTENSION OF TIME, P2025-0157-ET 
11469 Jefferson Boulevard in the Mixed Use Corridor 2 (MU-2) zone 

Dear Angel Orozco: 

The Current Planning Division received your request on June 27, 2025 to extend the approval of 
Conditional Use Permit P2019-0194-CUP, Site Plan Review P2019-0194-SPR, and 
Administrative Site Plan Review P2019-0194-AUP permitting the construction of a new five-story, 
111,000 square foot, 175-room boutique hotel with a restaurant, pool, rooftop bar, and a two-level 
subterranean parking garage located at 11469 Jefferson Boulevard in the Mixed Use Corridor 2 
(MU-2) zone. The request has been approved for an additional one-year term and said 
entitlements shall not expire until July 12, 2026, except as otherwise provided herein. 

Refer to Attachment 1 for an Analysis of the Extension request and Attachment 2, the Applicant’s 
request for an Extension of Time. 

This administrative decision may be appealed in accordance with Title 17, Section 17.640.030 – 
Appeals, by an interested person within 15 days of approval, by 5:30 PM. If no appeal is filed, the 
decision shall be come final. If a timely appeal is notified, Staff will notify the applicant. Please 
contact William Kavadas, Assistant Planner, at 310-253-5706 or at 
william.kavadas@culvercity.org with any questions. 

Sincerely, 

Mark E. Muenzer 
Planning & Development Director 

Attachment 1: Analysis 
Attachment 2: Applicant Request for Extension of Time 
Attachment 3: Resolution No. 2021-P003 
 
Copy: Emily Stadnicki, Current Planning Manager 

Sammy Romo, Senior Civil Engineer 
Tim Koutsouros, Building Official 
David Montgomery, Fire Prevention Specialist 
Case File 

mailto:william.kavadas@culvercity.org


ATTACHMENT 1 

P2025-0157 EXTENSION OF TIME 

ANALYSIS 

 

Findings 

In considering the request, the following findings were made: 

1. On April 28, 2021, the Planning Commission approved entitlements, subject to all conditions 

of Planning Commission Resolution No. 2021-P003. 

2. Condition No. 4 of Resolution No. 2021-P003 states: 

“The land use permit to which these Conditions of Approval apply (the “Land Use Permit”) 

shall expire one year from the date of final approval of said Land Use Permit if the use has 

not been exercised. As provided in CCMC Section 17.595.030 – “Time Limits and 

Extensions”, an Applicant may request an extension of said expiration date by filing a written 

request with the Planning Division prior to the expiration of the land use permit.” 

3. On May 11, 2021, two appeals were received, and the City Council held a public hearing on 

July 12, 2021 to consider the appeals. Resolutions denying each appeal and affirming the 

Planning Commission decision adopting the Mitigated Negative Declaration and Mitigation 

and Monitoring Program and approving the CUP, SPR, and AUP, subject to all the conditions 

of approval contained in the Planning Commission Resolution No. 2021-P003 dated April 28, 

2021, were adopted by the City Council (Resolution No. 2021-R071 & 2021-R072).  Therefore, 

the approval date for the entitlements is July 12, 2021. 

4. The Applicant submitted three previous Extension of Time request on June 14, 2022, July 10, 

2023, and July 9, 2024. The requests state that the project was severely impacted by the 

COVID19 Pandemic and subsequent affects on construction costs and interest rate rises. 

5. On July 21, 2022, July 24, 2023, and July 18, 2024, the City transmitted to the applicant, an 

approved Extension of Time through July 12, 2023, July 12, 2024, and July 12, 2025 

respectively. 

6. Since July 18, 2024, the Applicant has been in communication with the City regarding 

challenges in moving forward with the project due to construction costs and the lending 

market. 

7. On June 27, 2025, the Applicant submitted a fourth Extension of Time request noting 

additional time required to update plans and environmental studies to modify the project to 

meet current applicant goals and objectives. 

 

Analysis 

Pursuant to CCMC Section 17.595.030.D.2, “The Burden of proof is on the applicant to establish, 

with substantial evidence, that the zoning approval should be extended. Upon determination that 

the applicant has made a good faith effort to establish the permit, the Director may extend the 

time to establish an approved permit for up to an additional 12 months, unless the conditions of 

approval authorize longer extensions…”. The applicant intends to continue with the project but 

requires additional time for economic markets to improve and/or to modify the project to be more 

economically viable. 
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Conditions of Approval 

1. The approval of Conditional Use Permit P2019-0194-CUP, Site Plan Review P2019-0194-

SPR, and Administrative Site Plan Review P2019-0194-AUP, including all Conditions of 

Approval outlined in Exhibit A dated April 28, 2021, enclosed as Attachment 3, shall be 

extended and remain in effect through July 3, 2026, unless and until a new entitlement for 

the property is approved by the Planning Commission and/or City Council. 

 

Environmental Determination 

Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act guidelines, a Mitigated Negative Declaration 

with associated mitigations was adopted by the Planning Commission on April 28, 2021. Pursuant 

to Section 15162 of CEQA, the extension request is within the scope of the adopted MND and 

the circumstances under which the MND was determined have not significantly changed and no 

new significant information has been found that would impact the CEQA finding. Therefore, no 

additional environmental analysis is required. 

 



 VERDANT CULVER CITY LLC 
 

June 27, 2025 

William Kavadas 

Planning Department 

City of Culver City 

9770 Culver Blvd. 

Culver City, CA 90232 

Re: Request for Entitlement Extension – 11469 JeƯerson Blvd. 

William, 

I am writing to formally request a one-year extension of the entitlements for the project 
located at 11469 JeƯerson Blvd., which are currently set to expire on July 12, 2025. 

We are continuing to make progress on the project and respectfully request that the City 
grant a one-year extension to allow us to maintain the approvals in good standing as we 
complete the necessary next steps. 

Please let us know if any additional documentation or fees are required to process this 
request. 

Thank you for your attention and continued support. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Angel Orozco 

Verdant Culver City LLC 

(949 )359-3858 

Attachment 2



Attachment No. 2Attachment 3
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